926329 EU ED

FILED

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

NO. 46080-7 IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

Barlow Point Land Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; and PORT OF LONGVIEW, a municipal corporation,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

VS.

Keystone Properties I, LLC,

Defendant/Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE STEPHEN WARNING

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BEN SHAFTON Attorney for Appellant Caron, Colven, Robison & Shafton 900 Washington Street, Suite 1000 Vancouver, WA 98660 (360) 699-3001

I.	Identity of Petitioner	
II.	Decision of the Court of Appeals 1	
III.	Issues Presented for Review	
IV.	State	ment of the Case1
	a.	General History of the Property1
	b.	The 2006 Transaction
	c.	The 2012 Transaction
	d.	Course of Proceedings
V.	Argu	ment9
	a.	Introduction9
	b.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with Well Established Authority on Interpretation of Deeds and on Determining Whether a Deed is Ambiguous. 9
	c.	The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with Decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals on Allowing Consideration of Extrinsic Evidence
	d.	The Court of Appeals Affirmed the Grant of a Motion for Summary Judgment although the Materials Showed the Existence of Genuine Issues of Material Fact 13
	e.	The Court of Appeals Did Not Address Objections to the Evidence Made by Keystone
	f.	The Questions Presented Here Are Matters of Public Interest

VI.	Conclusion 20
VII.	Appendix 1: Opinion of Court of Appeals21
VIII.	Appendix 2: Order Denying Motion to Publish Opinion 40

Table of Authorities

Cases

Alby v. Banc One Financial, 119 Wn.App. 513, 82 P.3d 675(2003)11
Bank of East Asia v. Pang, 140 Wash. 603, 249 P. 1060(1926)11
City of Seattle v. Northern Pacific Railway, 12 Wn.2d 247, 121 P.2d 382 (1942)11
Eurick v. Pemco Insurance Co., 108 Wn.2d 338, 738 P.2d 251(1987)11
E-Z Motor Loader Trailers, Inc. v. Travelers Indemnity Co., 106 Wn.2d 901, 726 P.2d 439 (1986)11
Hanson Industries, Inc., v. County of Spokane, 114 Wn.App. 523, 58 P.3d 910 (2002)
Hoglund v. Omak Wood Products, Inc., 81 Wn.App. 501, 914 P.2d 1197 (1996)11
Hollis v. Garwall, 137 Wn.2d 683, 974 P.2d 836 (1999)12
Hungerford v. Department of Corrections, 135 Wn.App. 240, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006)
McKillop v. Crown Zellerbach, Inc., 46 Wn.App. 870, 733 P.2d 559 (1987)
Newport Yacht Basin Association of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc., 168 Wn.App. 56, 277 P.3d 18 (2012)10,12
Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012)13
State v. Olson, 126 Wn.2d 315, 893 P.2d 629 (1995)
Sunnyside Valley Irrigation District v. Dickie, 149 Wn.2d 873, 73 P.3d 369 (2003)10
Zobrist v. Culp, 95 Wn.2d 556, 627 P.2d 1308 (1981)10

I. <u>Identity of Petitioner.</u>

This petition is filed on behalf of Defendant/Appellant Keystone Properties I, LLC (Keystone).

II. <u>Decision of the Court of Appeals.</u>

Keystone seeks review of the decision of the Court of Appeals in this matter filed on September 9, 2015. The Court denied Keystone's motion to publish the opinion on November 13, 2015. Copies of the opinion and the order are in the Appendix.

III. <u>Issues Presented for Review.</u>

This appeal presents the following issues:

- 1. Can a legal description in a deed be considered ambiguous if words must be added to the legal description to create the alleged ambiguity?
- 2. Can extrinsic evidence be used to show what the parties may have intended the legal description to say as opposed to illuminating the words that the parties used?
- 3. Can summary judgment be entered when a factual issues exists?

IV. Statement of the Case.

a. General History of the Property

This case concerns tidelands on the Columbia River in the Barlow Point area of Cowlitz County. Tidelands are the area between ordinary high tide and extreme low tide. The uplands are the area to the shore side of the tidelands. The underwater area is called the bed. Tidelands are between the uplands and the bed. Stoebuck & Weaver, *Real Estate: Transactions* 18 Wash.Prac. §13.5. Ownership of tidelands can be divorced from the ownership of the abutting uplands. The tidelands area is sometimes used by logging companies to hold logs on rafts headed for the mill. (CP 301, 345-46)

The State of Washington conveyed all tidelands in the area to Long-Bell Timber Company in 1923. (CP 607-608) In 1984, International Paper Company deeded land and tidelands in the area to International Paper Realty Corporation (the 1984 Deed). The tidelands were described in Parcel "J" of the legal description as "all tidelands of the Second Class, situated in front of, adjacent to or abutting (certain describe uplands). . ." (CP 611-19)

Between February and November of 1986, International Paper Realty Corporation conveyed property included within the uplands described in Parcel "J" of the 1984 Deed in six different deeds. These will be referred to as the Exception Deeds. The legal description in each Exception Deed explicitly included tidelands abutting that parcel. The

legal description of the first Exception Deed included the language "TOGETHER with all tide lands of the second class, situated front, adjacent to or abutting upon the property herein conveyed" to describe the adjacent tidelands. (CP 310-312) The legal descriptions in the other five Exception Deeds refer to the adjacent tidelands in the following language:

Together with all Tide Lands of the Second Class situated front, adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands; and as covered in Parcel "J" of Deed Volume 977, page 242 (Fee #840924042).

(CP 302-303, 305-308, 313-324; 470-473)

International Paper Realty Corporation conveyed its holdings in the area to Robert P. Radakovich in 1987 (the 1987 Deed). The conveyance included tidelands described in Parcel "H" of the legal description. That description is identical to that contained in Parcel "J" of the 1984 Deed except that it contains language excepting out the property that had been conveyed under the Exception Deeds in 1986. (CP 620-32) The elder Mr. Radakovich subsequently conveyed the property to Terra Firma, Inc. (Terra Firma) in 1996. The legal description includes Parcel "H" as described in the 1987 Deed. In fact, much of the legal description of the deed is a direct copy of the legal description of the 1987 Deed. (CP 633-40)

b. The 2006 Transaction.

Robert Radakovich II is the son of Robert P. Radakovich, the Grantee of the 1987 Deed. Both have been associated with Terra Firma. The elder Mr. Radakovich has been a principal while his son has been an officer. (CP 327, 331) In 2006, the younger Mr. Radakovich agreed to sell some of Terra Firma's property to Mr. Wilson for \$88,700.00. They also orally agreed that Terra Firma would retain an option to repurchase the property. (CP 368-369)

Vincent Penta, an attorney in Longview, prepared a Real Estate Purchase and Sale Agreement for the transaction. As the agreement states, he was representing Mr. Wilson. (CP 389-90; CP 392-93) There are several versions of the agreement in the record. None contain a legal description. (CP 97-100; CP 336-37; CP 389-93; CP 468-69) The agreed upon option is not contained within the Real Estate Purchase Agreement.

Mr. Wilson's lender sought a lender's title insurance policy. Mr. Penta relayed that request to Cowlitz County Title. Arlene Reynolds, a title officer with Cowlitz County Title, then prepared the legal description for the preliminary commitment for title insurance for that lender's policy. (CP 354-356)

Mr. Penta acted as escrow for the transaction. The escrow instructions signed by both parties instructed him to rely on the legal

descriptions contained in the preliminary commitment that Ms Reynolds prepared. (CP 451, 459)

Mr. Penta prepared a Statutory Warranty Deed for the transaction. The younger Mr. Radakovich signed it on February 22, 2006. Mr. Wilson also signed the deed as follows:

Approved and accepted

/s/ Stephen Jeffrey Wilson STEPHEN JEFFREY WILSON

The deed contained the following legal description

PARCEL A:

Lot 2 of short subdivision No. 91-001, as recorded in Volume 6 of short plats, page 83, under Auditor's File No. 910204032; and being a portion of the George Barlow D.L.C.; together with all tidelands of the second class, situated in front of, adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands and as conveyed in Parcel "J" of said deed, Volume 977, page 242 (fee no. 8400924042).

PARCEL B:

All that portion of George Barlow D.L.C. and George Fisher D.L.C. lying outside of Columbia River Dike of Consolidated Diking Improvement District No. 1, said dike being described by Deed in Volume 121, page 391, Auditor's File No. 51256;

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying northerly of a line that is parallel to and 1,765.70 feet south of the south line of Section 22, Township 8 North, Range 3 West of the W.M.

The deed also noted that each parcel identified in the legal description was a separate tax parcel. Parcel A was identified as tax parcel No. 1-713-0100 while Parcel B was No. 1-714-0100. (CP 376-77) Mr. Wilson had seen the legal description before he signed the Deed, and he read it before he signed the deed. He also signed a Promissory Note and Deed of Trust for the loan from Twin City Bank. The Deed of Trust contains the same legal description as that on that on the Deed. The Deed was recorded on February 23, 2006. (CP 360, 422-430)

c. The 2012 Transaction.

The Port of Longview (the Port) became interested in acquiring the tidelands in front of Parcel B. It obtained a title guarantee from Chicago Title Insurance Company in June of 2011. That document stated that those tidelands were owned by Terra Firma. (CP 209, 215-219)

On January 9, 2012, Mr. Wilson entered into a purchase and sale agreement with the predecessor of Barlow Point Land Company, LLC, (Barlow Point), to sell the property he had acquired from Terra Firma for \$755,000.00. (CP 366) Meanwhile, Terra Firma conveyed the tidelands abutting Parcel B to Keystone on January 30, 2012. (CP 7)

Cowlitz County Title was asked to prepare a preliminary commitment for title insurance for the transaction. Barlow Point's

surveyor questioned whether Mr. Wilson actually owned the tidelands abutting Parcel B. Seth Woolson, the attorney for Barlow Point, asked Terry Woodruff at Cowlitz County Title to clarify the ownership. Cowlitz County Title's Terry Woodruff prepared a chain of title certificate for the tidelands abutting Parcel B that did not mention the 2006 transaction between Terra Firma and Mr. Wilson. (CP 349, 396, 605-06) Mr. Woodruff later changed his conclusion on February 8, 2012, to state that Mr. Wilson did own the tidelands in front of Parcel B and that Cowlitz County Title would insure the conveyance of those tidelands. (CP 351, 399)

Mr. Wilson executed a statutory warranty deed in favor of Barlow Point that was recorded on February 16, 2012. The legal description is identical to that attached to the 2006 Deed. (CP 58) Barlow Point and the Port subsequently entered into a boundary line agreement. (CP 226-239)

d. <u>Course of Proceedings</u>.

Barlow Point and the Port both sued to quiet title in the tidelands abutting Parcel B. (CP 3-29) Keystone answered. (CP 30-31) Barlow Point and the Port then moved for summary judgment. (CP 32-79)

The parties introduced declarations from three persons on how the language of the legal description on the 2006 Deed should be

interpreted. Barlow Point and the Port submitted a declaration from Calvin Hampton, an associate of Mr. Wilson who is a surveyor. He based his analysis on Mr. Wilson's assertion that he — Mr. Wilson — wanted the tidelands in the 2006 transaction. (CP 344) He interpreted the phrase "and as conveyed in Parcel "J" of (the 1984 Deed)" in the description of Parcel A in the 2006 Deed to mean all tidelands described in "J" the 1984 Deed that Terra Firma owned at the time of the 2006 transaction. He made this statement in the absence of any language in the deed to that effect. He acknowledged that the use of virtually the same phrase in the Exception Deeds would mean that International Paper Realty Corporation was conveying all the tidelands that it owned at the time notwithstanding the fact that the same language was used in five of the six Exception Deeds and that such an interpretation of the language would mean that International Paper Realty Corporation had conveyed the same tidelands multiple times. (CP 344)

Keystone presented a declaration from Dennis Gish, a title officer with approximately thirty-seven years of experience. (CP 297) He concluded that the absence of any reference to tidelands in the description for Parcel B meant that those tidelands were not conveyed. He first noted that tidelands can have fee simple ownership independent of the

ownership of abutting uplands. He rejected Mr. Hampton's conclusion because that was not what the description said. (CP 301-303)

Mr. Gish, Mr. Hampton, and Mr. Woodruff each stated that if he had prepared the legal description for Parcel B and wanted to indicate that the tidelands in front of that parcel were being conveyed, he would have placed language referring to those tidelands in the legal description of Parcel B in some fashion. (CP 302, 343, 349)

The trial court granted the plaintiffs' summary judgment motion and quieted title in plaintiffs to the tidelands abutting Parcel B. (CP 550-557) Keystone appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed.

V. Argument.

a. Introduction.

The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with several decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. It also presents an issue of substantial public interest. Therefore, the Supreme Court should take review of the matter. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4)

b. <u>The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with Well</u>

Established Authority on Interpretation of Deeds and on Determining

Whether a Deed is Ambiguous.

The Court of Appeals utilized extrinsic evidence to rule that the 2006 Deed included the tidelands abutting Parcel B. To do so, it had to

rule that the legal description within the 2006 Deed is ambiguous. It recognized that the description could be interpreted such that those tidelands were not included within the grant of the 2006 Deed. It then indicated that the phrase "and as conveyed in Parcel 'J'" of the 1984 Deed could possibly refer to all tidelands that Terra Firma owned at the time. Opinion, p 12 The 2006 Deed could not be interpreted to refer to all tidelands that Terra Firma owned because that would amount to a strained and forced interpretation that would require adding language to the description that simply is not there. The decision therefore conflicts with decisions from both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

While the goal of the process of interpretation is to effectuate the parties' intentions, those intentions must be derived in the first instance from the four corners of the deed and its language. *Hanson Industries, Inc., v. County of Spokane,* 114 Wn.App. 523, 527, 58 P.3d 910 (2002); *Newport Yacht Basin Association of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc.,* 168 Wn.App. 56, 64, 277 P.3d 18 (2012). The words within a deed must be given their ordinary meaning. *McKillop v. Crown Zellerbach, Inc.,* 46 Wn.App. 870, 873, 733 P.2d 559 (1987). If that language is unambiguous, extrinsic evidence cannot be considered to determine the deed's meaning. *Zobrist v. Culp,* 95 Wn.2d 556, 560, 627 P.2d 1308 (1981); *Sunnyside Valley Irrigation District v. Dickie,* 149

Wn.2d 873, 880, 73 P.3d 369 (2003); Newport Yacht Basin Association of Condominium Owners v. Supreme Northwest, Inc., supra, 168 Wn.App. at 69-71.

The language in a deed is ambiguous only if it is capable of two or more meanings. *Hoglund v. Omak Wood Products, Inc.*, 81 Wn.App. 501, 504, 914 P.2d 1197 (1996). When a court is called upon to interpret a deed, it applies the same principles as it would to any other contract. *Alby v. Banc One Financial*, 119 Wn.App. 513, 518, 82 P.3d 675 (2003). That means that, just as with a contract, an ambiguity in a deed cannot be created by a strained or forced construction. *E-Z Motor Loader Trailers, Inc. v. Travelers Indemnity Co.*, 106 Wn.2d 901, 907, 726 P.2d 439 (1986); *Eurick v. Pemco Insurance Co.*, 108 Wn.2d 338, 341, 738 P.2d 251 (1987) Furthermore, an interpretation of an instrument cannot be based on language that is simply not present. *Bank of East Asia v. Pang*, 140 Wash. 603-610-11, 249P. 1060(1926); *City of Seattle v. Northern Pacific Railway*, 12 Wn.2d 247, 260, 121 P.2d 382 (1942)

The Court of Appeals stated that the legal description was ambiguous because the phrase "and as conveyed in Parcel 'J'" of the 1984 deed in the description of Parcel A could include all tidelands then owned by Terra Firma, including those abutting Parcel B. This latter interpretation cannot be adopted because it requires insertion of additional

language into the legal description. It would have to read "and all tidelands now owned by Terra Firma described in Parcel "J" of the 1984 deed" for this interpretation to be possible.

In summary, the legal description cannot be ambiguous because only one meaning is possible—that the tidelands abutting Parcel B were not included in the grant. The other interpretation that the Court of Appeals allowed was possible cannot create an ambiguity because it is strained and forced and because it requires adding language to the description that is not there. The Court of Appeals ignored decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals in coming to a contrary conclusion. The Supreme Court should take review of the matter for that reason.

c. The Decision of the Court of Appeals Conflicts with

Decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals on

Allowing Consideration of Extrinsic Evidence.

The decision of the Court of Appeals also violates well accepted rules for use of extrinsic evidence to interpret a deed. As the Court stated in *Hollis v. Garwall*, 137 Wn.2d 683, 697, 974 P.2d 836 (1999), extrinsic evidence can be used to illuminate what was written, not what was intended to be written. It can also not be used to vary, contradict, or modify the written word. The Court of Appeals adhered to

this view in *Newport Yacht Basin Association of Condominium Owners v.*Supreme Northwest, Inc., supra, 168 Wn.App. at 70. The Opinion outlines the extrinsic evidence and concludes that the parties intended to transfer the tidelands abutting both Parcel A and Parcel B in the 2006 deed. This evidence does not illuminate what actually was written. At best, it only shows that the parties may have intended to insert language into the deed to include the tidelands abutting Parcel B in the legal description, which, of course, they did not do. In this way, the Opinion utilizes extrinsic evidence merely to show what was intended to be written and was not. In this way, the decision conflicts with well established decisions of the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

d. The Court of Appeals Affirmed the Grant of a Motion for Summary Judgment although the Materials Showed the Existence of Genuine Issues of Material Fact.

A reviewing court reviews the grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment *de novo*, making the same determination as does the trial court. Summary judgment can only be granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact. The facts and all reasonable inferences from those facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 6, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012) These

principles have been set out in a host of other cases decided in both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals. The Court of Appeals decision simply ignores the factual issues that permeate the record. The decision therefore is at odds with decisions of both the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals.

Much of the extrinsic evidence upon which the Court relied came from interactions between Mr. Wilson and the younger Mr. Radakovich after the transaction when the younger Mr. Radakovich attempted to exercise an option to repurchase that Mr. Wilson agreed he orally gave. The younger Mr. Radakovich may have been interested in purchasing the tidelands abutting Parcel B. But he stated that he initially believed that the tidelands abutting Parcel B were not conveyed in the 2006 deed and that any contrary information came from David Feinauer, a representative of the Port of Longview. (CP 331-33) The Court of Appeals recognized the testimony of the younger Mr. Radakovich. Opinion, p. 9 This created an issue of fact as to what the parties intended when they entered into the transaction.

Representatives of the Port claimed that the elder Mr. Radakovich said in a meeting that he didn't believe that he had any ownership in the tidelands abutting Parcel B. John Van

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