DEC 29 2015

# No. 92623-9 Ronald R. Carpenter IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Barlow Point Land Company, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company; and Port of Longview, a municipal corporation,

Plaintiffs/Respondents,

VS.

Keystone Properties I, LLC,

Defendant/Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

HONORABLE STEPHEN WARNING

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK C. SCHEIBMEIR Attorney for Respondent Port of Longview Hillier, Scheibmeir & Kelly, P.S. P. O. Box 939 Chehalis, Washington 98532 (360) 748-3386

SETH A. WOOLSON Attorney for Respondent Barlow Point Land Company, LLC Chmelik Sitkin & Davis, P.S. 1500 Railroad Avenue Bellingham, Washington 98225 (360) 671-1796

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

The trial court concluded that an ambiguity existed in the 2006

Deed as to whether it included the disputed tidelands. The trial court then concluded that extrinsic evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that the

Terra Firma intended to, and did, convey the disputed tidelands to Wilson via the 2006 Deed.

The trial court separately granted summary judgment on the basis that the 2006 Deed did not expressly reserve ownership of the disputed tidelands with the seller, and that the tidelands were therefore included in the conveyance pursuant to the Wardell Doctrine, *Wardell v. Commercial Waterway District No. 1 of King County*, 80 Wash. 495, 141 Pac. 1045 (1914).

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's Order Granting Summary Judgment (Court of Appeals No. 46080-7-II). The Court agreed that ambiguities existed in the 2006 Deed as to whether it included the disputed tidelands. The Court also agreed that extrinsic evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated that Terra Firma intended to, and did, convey the disputed tidelands to Wilson via the 2006 Deed.

Having affirmed the trial court on its first basis for summary judgment, the Court did not address the issue of whether the 2006 Deed conveyed the disputed tidelands pursuant to the Wardell Doctrine.

In answer to Keystone's Petition, Barlow Point and the Port deny that Keystone's Petition satisfies any of the requirements for review. RAP 13.4(b). But should review be granted, the Respondents request that the

Supreme Court also review the trial court's alternate ground for summary judgment pursuant to the Wardell Doctrine.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. 2006 Sale from Terra Firma to Wilson. At the beginning of 2006, Radakovich I and Radakovich II, under their family business, Terra Firma, owned 300+ acres in the Barlow Point area along the Columbia River just west of Longview. Terra Firma's ownership extended to the shore of the Columbia River and the adjoining tidelands. (CP 80-82)

In late 2005, Radakovich II negotiated with Wilson, his good friend, for the sale of a portion of Terra Firma's shorelands and adjoining tidelands. (CP 81) Wilson was told that he was purchasing all of Terra Firma's tidelands adjacent to the uplands he was acquiring. (CP 489-490)

As part of these negotiations Wilson was given a confidential appraisal of all of Terra Firma's property. (CP 489) A map included with the appraisal identified the fifteen tax parcels comprising Terra Firma's ownership. (CP 489) Of importance were Tax Parcels 1-0713-0100 and 1-0714-0100 ("Parcel 713 and Parcel 714"). These two parcels included all of Terra Firm's shorelands and tidelands. (CP 489-490)

Radakovich I agreed to sell Parcels 713 and 714 to Wilson for their assessed value of \$88,700.00. (CP 490) The parties had a local attorney,

Vince Penta ("Mr. Penta"), prepare a Real Estate Purchase and Sale

Agreement ("Purchase Agreement"). (CP 82) The Purchase Agreement
does not include a legal description but it states that the sale is of Parcels
713 and 714, and that Terra Firma is selling "a minimum of 20 acres" to
Wilson. (CP 82) The Purchase Agreement does not exclude any tidelands
from the sale.

Mr. Penta was asked to close the transaction. (CP 82) He did not have legal descriptions for Parcels 713 and 714 and so he turned to a local title escrow officer, Arlene Reynolds, for assistance. (CP 354-358) Ms. Reynolds found a legal description for Parcel 713 from an earlier transaction. This legal description became "Parcel A" in the eventual deed. Ms. Reynolds could not find a legal description for Parcel 714 as it had not previously been carved out of Terra Firma's larger ownership. Ms. Reynolds therefore prepared her own legal description of what she thought was contained within Tax Parcel 714. This became "Parcel B" in the eventual deed. (CP 354-358) Ms. Reynolds did not discuss this legal description with Mr. Penta, nor did he discuss it with the parties. (CP 354-358)

The sale from Terra Firma to Wilson was completed in February 2006. The Deed contains the following legal description:

A portion of the George Barlow Donation Land Claim and the George Fisher Donation Land Claim as fully described by an attached Exhibit "A" to the Deed setting forth the following legal description:

#### Parcel A:

Lot 2 of Short Subdivision No. 91-001, as recorded in Volume 6 of Short Plats, page 83, under Auditor's File No. 910204032; and being a portion of the George Barlow Donation Land Claim; TOGETHER WITH all tidelands of the second class, situated in front of, adjacent to or abutting the above described uplands and as conveyed in Parcel "J" of said Deed, Volume 977, page 242, (Fee No. 840924042).

## Parcel B:

All that portion of George Barlow D.L.C. and George Fisher D.L.C. lying outside of Columbia River Dike of Consolidated Diking Improvement District No. 1, said dike being described by Deed in Volume 121, page 391, Auditor's File No. 51256;

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion lying Northerly of a line that is parallel to and 1,765.70 feet South of the South line of Section 22, Township 8 North, Range 3 West of the W.M.

Situate in Cowlitz County, State of Washington.

(CP 101-103) (Emphasis ours)

At issue is whether Terra Firma conveyed the tidelands adjacent to Parcel B (the "Parcel B Tidelands").

2. The parties differ in their interpretation of the legal description. In support of their Motion for Summary Judgment the Respondents presented the declarations of two expert witnesses: Cal

Hampton ("Hampton"), a licensed land surveyor, and Terry Woodruff ("Woodruff"), Senior Title Officer for Cowlitz Title. Both experts declared that the legal description for "Parcel A" includes all of the tidelands adjoining Parcel B. They explained that the conveyance of additional tidelands "as conveyed in Parcel J . . ." refers to an earlier conveyance. In that earlier conveyance "Parcel J" included all of the tidelands adjoining both Parcels A and B. Therefore, a conveyance of those tidelands "as conveyed in Parcel J" includes the tidelands adjoining Parcel B. (CP at 190 (Quoting CP at 105), at 191)

Keystone's expert, Dennis Gish ("Gish"), a title officer with Columbia Title, disagreed. Gish believed that the language "and as conveyed in Parcel J . . ." is meaningless, and that it was not intended to convey any tidelands other than those adjoining Parcel A. (CP 303)

- 3. Extrinsic evidence demonstrates the conveyance of the Parcel B Tidelands to Wilson.
  - Shortly before the sale Radakovich II sent an email to Wilson reminding him that the Port of Longview was interested in the tidelands Wilson was about to purchase. (CP 82)
  - Late in 2006, Radakovich II made multiple requests to repurchase the Parcel B Tidelands: (i) on October 12, 2006, Radakovich II sent an email to Wilson pleading with him to sell

back the Parcel B Tidelands (CP 84, 106-107); (ii) two weeks later Radakovich II tendered a formal written offer through a real estate broker to repurchase the Parcel B Tidelands for \$100,000.00 (CP 84, 108-127); (iii) Radakovich II sent a second formal written offer to repurchase the Parcel B Tidelands, offering to trade other properties owned by Terra Firma (CP 85, 128-140); and (iv) when Wilson did not respond to any of these offer Radakovich II sent a lengthy email on February 27, 2007, pleading to repurchase the Parcel B Tidelands: "I need to get the tidelands back for many reasons including my own sanity Jeff. I made a mistake not paying Duncan to survey out the tidelands when we executed this deal. I could not afford it and unnecessarily handed you control of the waterfront access. I acted out of weakness, and I hate myself for it. . . . I need the tidelands back to survive in the short term and long term. . . . I am on the edge of my life and I need those damn tidelands back. . . . I am tired and trying to bridge a chasm of vast expanse and I can't do it without those damn tidelands back." (CP 85-86, 141-142)

When Wilson would not resell the Parcel B
 Tidelands to Radakovich II their friendship came to an end. In
 2008 Terra Firma sued Wilson over access to the tidelands. In the

course of this litigation Radakovich II signed a sworn declaration stating that an attached map correctly identified the property belonging to Terra Firma and that belonging to Wilson. The attached map identified the Parcel B Tidelands as belonging to Wilson. (CP 492-493)

During trial Radakovich II stipulated to the entry of a map depicting the parties' respective properties. This map, entered as Exhibit 21, identifies all tidelands as belonging to Wilson. (CP 492-493, 513-514)

- Wilson was the only party to use the tidelands. (CP
   87) He owned several "duck boats" and operated a business taking passengers and cargo across the Columbia River using the Parcel B
   Tidelands for access. (CP 87)
- Wilson paid all property taxes on Parcels 713 and
   714. (CP 88)
- In 2011, Wilson applied to the State of Washington for five permanent mooring buoys to be placed along the Parcel B Tidelands. Ownership of the tidelands was a requirement of the application. (CP 87, 162-173)
- Following the litigation with Wilson, Radakovich II moved away and Radakovich I assumed control of Terra Firma. In

December 2011, Radakovich I filed a Chapter 7 Bankruptcy
Petition. (CP 88, 174-181, 210-211) In his bankruptcy schedules,
signed under penalty of perjury, Radakovich I does not claim
ownership of any tidelands. (CP 211) He further states that Terra
Firma is defunct and has no value. (CP 88, 177-179, 211)

• On January 25, 2012, while his bankruptcy was pending, and without notice to the bankruptcy trustee, Radakovich I executed a deed purporting to convey the Parcel B Tidelands to Keystone, a company owned by an associate of Radakovich I named John Van Vessem. (CP 211) The selling price was \$1,000.00. (CP 211) At the same time Wilson was completing a sale of the tidelands to Barlow Point. (CP 211) This sale was completed in February 2012. Barlow Point paid Wilson \$755,000.00 for the same tidelands. (CP 89) Later in 2012, Barlow Point conveyed a portion of the Parcel B Tidelands to the Port for \$63,000.00. (CP 211)

Barlow Point and the Port jointly commenced this action to quiet title to the Parcel B Tidelands according to their respective ownership interests.

- 4. <u>Motion for Summary Judgment</u>. Barlow Point and the Port jointly moved for summary judgment. Among other arguments, they asserted the following grounds for quieting title in their names:
  - a. The legal description in the Wilson Deed is ambiguous with respect to the Parcel B Tidelands. This ambiguity is resolved by overwhelming extrinsic evidence that the parties intended the tidelands to be included in the 2006 Deed to Wilson.
  - b. The 2006 Deed's conveyance of Parcel B included the adjoining tidelands unless the seller expressly reserved them.

    Terra Firma did not expressly reserve ownership of any tidelands.

    The Parcel B Tidelands were therefore conveyed to Wilson according to the Wardell Doctrine.
- 5. Order Granting Summary Judgment. The trial court agreed with both of these arguments and granted summary judgment quieting title on both grounds. More specifically, the trial court concluded that:
  - a. The 2006 Deed is ambiguous as to whether the tidelands adjoining Parcel B are included. This ambiguity is resolved by extrinsic evidence that overwhelmingly demonstrates the parties' intent to convey the tidelands.
  - b. The property conveyed to Wilson is a "riparian estate". As a matter of law, the conveyance of the Parcel B

uplands included the adjoining tidelands since Terra Firma did not expressly reserve their ownership, citing to the Wardell Doctrine.

- 6. Appeal to the Court of Appeals.
- a. The Court affirmed the trial court's conclusions that the 2006 Deed was ambiguous, and that extrinsic evidence overwhelmingly demonstrated the parties' intent to include the Parcel B Tidelands. The Court affirmed the trial court's conclusion that the 2006 Deed was ambiguous:

To determine which tidelands were conveyed in the 2006 Deed requires us to interpret the phrase 'and as conveyed in Parcel J of said deed . . .'" CP at 103. This phrase is susceptible to more than one meaning. It could refer to only the tidelands situated in front of, adjacent to, or abutting Parcel A or it could refer to separate tidelands in addition to the tidelands situated in front of, adjacent to, or abutting Parcel A.

As to the former interpretation, the phase could simply mean that the tidelands adjacent to Parcel A were *also* conveyed in Parcel J, and does not include any tidelands other than those adjacent to Parcel A. In that sense, the phrase, "and as conveyed in Parcel J" merely represents an attempt to include all conceivable tidelands associated with or near Parcel A as part of the conveyance of the uplands. CP at 103. Accordingly, the absence of reference to tidelands in the Parcel B description could mean that the Parcel B Tidelands were not conveyed.

But, as to the later interpretation, in light of the history of Parcel J as provided by Hampton, it is reasonable that Parcel J describes *all* of the tidelands Terra Firma owned as conveyed to Radakovich I in 1987 by International Paper Realty Corporation, except some tidelands that had been conveyed to other parties. Because it is undisputed that Terra Firma already owned the land comprising the Parcel B Tidelands as a result of the 1987 conveyance, its later conveyance of the tidelands 'as described in Parcel J' could include the disputed portion of tidelands adjacent to Parcel B, separate and distinct from those tidelands adjacent to Parcel A.

By giving meaning to every word in the 2006 Deed, it is susceptible to at least two reasonable interpretations. Therefore, the 2006 Deed is ambiguous.

(Appendix 1 at 11-12)

Having concluded that the 2006 Deed was ambiguous the Court then affirmed the trial court's conclusion that extrinsic evidence overwhelmingly demonstrates that the parties intended to include the Parcel B Tidelands in the 2006 Deed, citing to the facts referenced above. (Appendix 1 at 18)

b. The Court did not address the trial court's alternate
basis for summary judgment. Having affirmed the trial court on
its first basis the Court felt it was unnecessary to address the trial
court's second basis: That the 2006 Deed did not expressly
reserve any tidelands and, therefore, all tidelands were conveyed to
Wilson pursuant to the Wardell Doctrine. (Appendix 1 at 19)

#### **ARGUMENT**

- 1. <u>Keystone's Petition does not satisfy the requirements for</u>
  RAP 13.4(b).
  - a. The Petition does not satisfy the requirements for RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). Keystone asks for review pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2), arguing that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with the decisions of the Supreme Court or with other decisions of the Court of Appeals. But Keystone's Petition fails to identify any decisions of either the Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals that are in conflict. Rather, Keystone merely cites to a number of decisions that were all recognized by the Court of Appeals and relied upon in its decision. Keystone does not cite to any decisions not cited by the Court of Appeals, nor to any decisions in conflict with those relied upon by the Court of Appeals. Keystone's Petition therefore does not satisfy the requirements for RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2).
  - b. The Petition does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(3). Keystone concedes that this case does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States.

- c. The Petition does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(4). This case involves the interpretation of a deed between two private parties. It does not involve any issues of substantial public interest. It does not raise any unique issues of law that have not already been fully examined by our courts. The Petition does not satisfy the requirements of RAP 13.4(b)(4).
- 2. In the event review is granted, the Supreme Court should also consider the trial court's alternate grounds for summary judgment, that the disputed tidelands were conveyed pursuant to the Wardell

  Doctrine. The Court of Appeals concluded that it was unnecessary to address the trial court's alternate ground for summary judgment: that the disputed tidelands were conveyed as a matter of law according to the Wardell Doctrine. RAP 13.4(d) requires that "if [a] party wants to seek review of any issue that is not raised in the Petition for Review, including any issues that were raised but not decided in the Court of Appeals, the party must raise those issues in an answer." The Respondents therefore respectfully request that, if review is granted, the Supreme Court also consider this alternate ground for the trial court's grant of summary judgment.

### **CONCLUSION**

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